FILED  
July 25, 2012  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

NO. 30466-3-III  
COURT OF APPEALS  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION III

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

**JOE ANTHONY MATA,**

Defendant/Appellant.

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

Dennis W. Morgan    WSBA #5286  
Attorney for Appellant  
P.O. Box 1019  
Republic, Washington 99166  
(509) 775-0777

##

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Joe Anthony Mata's conviction of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree (UPF 1°) violates the double jeopardy provisions of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art. I, § 9.

2. The trial court erroneously allowed the State to amend the Information, after it had rested its case-in-chief, by adding an uncharged alternative of committing first degree robbery (1°) to Counts 1 and 2. (CP 93).

3. The trial court's imposition of a sentence consecutive to Mr. Mata's Pierce County sentence cannot be justified under RCW 9.94A.589.

4. The trial court miscalculated the offender score and sentence on Mr. Mata's 1° degree robbery convictions.

5. The "free crimes" doctrine is inapplicable to Mr. Mata's case.

## **ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Does Mr. Mata's acquittal of UPF 1° in Pierce County, involving the same firearm which is the basis of his current conviction, invoke the prohibition against double jeopardy?

2. Does CrR 2.1(d) allow the State to amend an Information, after it has rested its case-in-chief, to include an alternative means of committing the offense?

3. Can the State justify the trial court's imposition of a sentence running consecutive to Mr. Mata's Pierce County sentence?

4. Did the trial court misinterpret the provisions of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) in calculating Mr. Mata's offender score for his 1<sup>o</sup> robbery convictions?

5. Does the "free crimes" doctrine apply if the UPF 1<sup>o</sup> is dismissed and Mr. Mata has correctly analyzed the trial court's sentencing authority under RCW 9.94A.589?

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

Deputy McIlrath of the Yakima Sheriff's Office responded to a complaint of a stolen 1993 Dodge Caravan, Washington license no. 864 ROW, on July 28, 2009 at 4:30 a.m. The van was stolen from the owner -- Luz Garcia. (Trial RP 108, ll. 14-22; RP 235, ll. 19-20; RP 236, l. 18 to RP 238, l. 5; RP 240, ll. 3-5).

Later that morning, Rigoberto Dominguez, the manager of the Union Gap Denny's, reported that a man and woman had left without paying. They both had tattoos. An older van was seen leaving the parking lot.

(Trial RP 196, ll. 1-24; RP 197, ll. 9-19; RP 204, ll. 3-8; RP 205, ll. 18-23; RP 229, ll. 18-21).

Shortly after the Denny's call, at 10:40 a.m., Deputy Jackson of the Yakima County Sheriff's Office received a robbery report involving a Dodge Caravan. Deputy Locati was dispatched to Thorpe Road where he contacted Zachary Sisneros. (Trial RP 114, ll. 12-13; RP 115, l. 21 to RP 116, l. 3; ll. 23-24; RP 244, ll. 17-18; RP 245, ll. 12-13; RP 246, ll. 2-6; RP 248, l. 21).

Mr. Sisneros is a water truck delivery driver for D.S. Waters Company which distributes Crystal Springs. He observed a maroon van tailgating him for approximately one mile. As he entered a customer's driveway to make a delivery he saw the van stop on the roadway. (Trial RP 268, ll. 1-25; RP 271, ll. 2-14; RP 272, l. 18 to RP 273, l. 4).

After completing his delivery, and as he started down the driveway, he saw that the van had backed in at an angle so as to block his exit. A male occupant asked him for jumper cables. The male then pulled a gun and pointed it at him stating "...[G]ive me the fucking keys to the truck. I ain't fucking around." (RP 273, ll. 15-19; RP 274, ll. 7-22; ll. 24-25).

The individual demanded Mr. Sisneros' money, wallet and cellphone. The cellphone number is (509) 728-0584. (Trial RP 275, ll. 12-15; RP 281, ll. 23-24).



Mr. Sisneros described the individual as 5'6" to 6' tall; 160 to 180 pounds; an Hispanic male wearing black shorts, a black and gray sweat-shirt, white tennis shoes, and a red ball cap. The individual had short black hair. (Trial RP 249, ll. 11-17).

The van was described as a maroon Dodge Caravan, Washington license no. 860 ROW. (Trial RP 250, ll. 2-10).

Mr. Sisneros believed that the gun was a .40 or .45 caliber semi-automatic. However, he could not later identify a gun which was found in a van. (Trial RP 251, ll. 20-25; RP 276, ll. 23-25; RP 281, ll. 12-15).

A second incident occurred in the Fred Meyer parking lot during the early evening of July 28. Shaun Kroeger and Jacob McDonald arrived in Mr. McDonald's pickup (PU). They exited the store and were returning to the PU when Mr. Kroeger was confronted by a male who approached him and demanded "everything you got." (Trial RP 537, ll. 6-14; ll. 19-22; RP 539, ll. 12-21).

Mr. McDonald had already climbed into the PU. He looked in the rearview mirror and saw Mr. Kroeger at the back end with the other male. He got out and went to the back of the PU. He saw a gun and Mr. Kroeger handing over his wallet. The gun was pointing at the ground. (Trial RP 671, l. 22 to RP 672, l. 3; RP 672, ll. 8-15; ll. 17-18).

Rebekah Elwell was in her car next to the PU. She looked in her rearview mirror before trying to back out. She saw Mr. Kroeger and the other individual behind her car. The other individual lifted his shirt and

showed a gun. She observed Mr. Kroeger hand over his wallet. The other individual ran off and jumped into a minivan. (Trial RP 539, ll. 8-11; RP 608, ll. 12-16; RP 610, ll. 2-8; RP 611, ll. 1-3).

Mr. Kroeger was initially reluctant to give the other person his wallet. However, after the gun was flashed he did so. Mr. Kroeger obtained the license number of the van. It was Washington license no. 864 ROW. (Trial RP 539, l. 23; RP 540, ll. 3-18; RP 542, ll. 12-16).

When Mr. McDonald went to the back of the PU the man also demanded his money. Mr. McDonald turned and walked away. (Trial RP 541, ll. 1-14; RP 673, ll. 6-14).

At 11:15 p.m. that same day Sergeant Carpenter of the Pierce County Sheriff's Office was running random routine license plate checks near 109<sup>th</sup> and Steel Streets as traffic exited SR 512. (Trial RP 496, ll. 23-24; RP 499, ll. 2-15).

Sergeant Carpenter ran a plate on a maroon Astro van as it exited the freeway. He got an NCI hit that it was stolen. The occupants were believed to be armed and dangerous. (Trial RP 501, ll. 12-24; RP 502, ll. 7-13).

When Sergeant Carpenter activated the lights on his patrol car the van sped away. A high speed chase ensued and resulted in Mr. Mata's arrest. A gun was later seized from the driver's side floorboard of the van. The van had Washington license 864 ROW. (Trail RP 372, ll. 8-12; RP 509, ll. 1-22; RP 517, ll. 12-14).

Also recovered from the van in Pierce County were two (2) wallets (one belonging to Mr. Kroeger), a cellphone with number (509) 728-0584; and ignition parts along with a screwdriver. The ignition area of the van had been jimmied. (Trial RP 145, ll. 1-3; RP 147, ll. 5-9; ll. 12-15; ll. 19-25; RP 153, l. 1).

A backpack with the name "Dreamer" written on it was found in the van along with various items of men's and women's clothing. Mr. Mata's nickname is "Dreamer." There were papers bearing the name of Christina Barrientes. These included love notes written in Spanish containing both Mr. Mata's name and Ms. Barrientes name. (Trial RP 153, ll. 10-19; RP 154, l. 17 to RP 155, l. 7; RP 155, l. 16 to RP 156, l. 1; RP 350, ll. 8-15).

The gun recovered from the van is a Hi-point.45. It was loaded and had one round in the chamber. The serial no. is X4118459P. (RP 149, ll. 14-22; RP 150, ll. 11-12).

When Mr. Mata was arrested in Pierce County, Ms. Barrientes was in the van. She was not observed during the various incidents that occurred on July 28, except in the Denny's video. (Trial RP 126, ll. 1-4).

Mr. Mata told Detective Benson of the Pierce County Sheriff's Office, that he and Ms. Barrientes were in Tacoma on the way to her mother's house in Auburn. He claimed that the van was borrowed from a friend named Jesus. (Trial RP 426, ll. 23-24; RP 433, ll. 14-15; RP 435, ll. 6-8).

Detective Jackson obtained a photograph of Ms. Barrientes. He then viewed a video from Denny's. It was his belief that Ms. Barrientes was the woman who left without paying. He was aware that Mr. Mata had a relationship Ms. Barrientes. He then obtained Mr. Mata's photo and compared it to the male in the video. (Trial RP 117, ll. 15-17; RP 118, l. 15 to RP 119, l. 18; RP 120, ll. 2-8).

A photomontage was prepared. It included six individual photographs. Mr. Mata's photograph was the only one with a teardrop tattoo. The neck area on each photograph had been blacked out to remove any evidence of Mr. Mata's neck tattoo. (Trial RP 128, ll. 9-22; RP 467, l. 12 to RP 468, l. 1).

Mr. Mata has a teardrop tattoo near his eye. He also has an obvious neck tattoo which says "Sureno." His arms are tattooed. Mr. Mata is 5'9" tall and weighs 160 pounds. (Trial RP 433, ll. 4-9).

When the photomontage was shown to the various witnesses the results were as follows:

Barbara Senger, the waitress at Denny's, could not identify anyone;

Rigoberto Dominguez, the manager, could not identify Ms. Barrientes; but did select Mr. Mata's photo.

Mr. Sisneros selected Mr. Mata.

Mr. Kroeger was 60% sure that Mr. Mata's photo matched the individual who robbed him.

Mr. McDonald was 100% sure that it was Mr. Mata.

(Trial RP 131, ll. 19-20; RP 133, ll. 19-25; RP 134, ll. 3-8; RP 137, ll. 12-25; RP 283, ll. 4-16; RP 298, ll. 14-15; RP 299, l. 14 to RP 300, l. 2; RP 469, ll. 4-16; RP 472, ll. 6-8; RP 473, ll. 22-23; RP 474, ll. 8-18; RP 676, ll. 1-12).

Ms. Garcia did not recognize either Mr. Mata's or Ms. Barrientes's photo. Neither of them had permission to have her van. Ms. Garcia has never owned a firearm. (Trial RP 109, ll. 5-14).

Ms. Elwell was not shown the montage. She testified that she never took her eyes off the individual with the gun once she saw what was happening. She identified that person as Mr. Mata. The gun remained in his waistband. (Trial RP 621, l. 24 to RP 624, l. 4; RP 624, ll. 11-13; RP 625, ll. 4-7).

Mr. Sisneros does not recall seeing a neck tattoo. He did observe a teardrop tattoo. (Trial RP 287, ll. 11-24; RP 288, ll. 9-20; RP 297, ll. 1-5).

Mr. Kroeger saw a teardrop tattoo on the person who robbed him. Mr. McDonald confirmed the presence of a teardrop tattoo. (Trial RP 549, ll. 2-4; RP 599, ll. 7-8; RP 599, l. 23 to RP 600, l. 1).

After Mr. Sisneros's cellphone was recovered it was discovered that it had phone numbers on it which were not recognized by Mr. Sisneros. One number belonged to Chelsea Kangas. The number was (509) 383-6022. (Trial RP 156, l. 18 to RP 157, l. 1; RP 158, ll. 6-7; RP 333, ll. 5-24; RP 335, ll. 12-21; RP 339, ll. 17-19).

When Ms. Kangas was contacted she indicated that there had been a call on her caller ID from D.S. Waters. The message on the phone was from "Dreamer." A second call was received from Ms. Barrientes. (Trial RP 349, ll. 5-6; RP 349, l. 24 to RP 350, l. 2; RP 350, ll. 8-15);

A records check was conducted on the gun recovered in Pierce County. It was purchased by Ms. Barrientes on June 5, 2009 at Bestway Pawn in Yakima. She picked it up on June 16, 2009. The serial no. is X4118459P. (Trial RP 322, ll. 1-3; RP 583, ll. 9-25; RP 584, ll. 13-22; RP 585, ll. 1-8; RP 586, ll. 1-3; RP 589, ll. 4-8).

An Information was filed on July 31, 2009. It charged Mr. Mata with one count of 1<sup>o</sup> robbery, including a firearm enhancement, and one count of UPF 1<sup>o</sup>. (CP 1).

Mr. Mata was held in Pierce County for trial on charges including a count of UPF 1<sup>o</sup>. He was acquitted of that charge. (CP 589; Steinmetz RP 5, ll. 3-12; RP 6, ll. 2-8; ll. 12-18).

Mr. Mata was arraigned on August 27, 2010. Various scheduling orders were entered along with time-for-trial waivers. Trial commenced on October 10, 2011. (CP 6; CP 7; CP 8; CP 9; CP 10; CP 11; CP 12; CP 13; CP 14; CP 15; CP 17; CP 18; CP 19; CP 20; CP 21; CP 22; CP 23; CP 24; CP 25; CP 28; CP 31).

An Amended Information was filed on August 8, 2011. It added two (2) additional counts of 1<sup>o</sup> robbery with firearm enhancements. It also

included a recent recidivism aggravating factor along with a “free crimes” aggravator. (CP 26).

Mr. Mata was in jail from June 1, 2009 to June 20, 2009 for a community custody violation. (Trial RP 1066, ll. 7-19).

A Second Amended Information was filed on October 10, 2011. It amended Count 3 to attempted 1° robbery. However, it omitted language as to the alternative means of committing 1° robbery in the respective counts. (CP 32).

Mr. Mata stipulated to a prior serious felony conviction for purposes of the UPF 1°. He also stipulated to a telephone number. (CP 44; CP 45).

During a pre-trial hearing on October 10, 2011 Mr. Mata raised an issue as to an expert witness. He wanted an expert witness on identification. He was advised that the Department of Assigned Counsel lacked funding. Defense counsel indicated that identification testimony was not likely to be critical under the facts and circumstances of the case. The prosecuting attorney agreed. (Trial RP 17, ll. 11-12; RP 35, ll. 1-21).

On October 13, 2011 Mr. Mata raised a double jeopardy issue involving his acquittal of UPF 1° in Pierce County. He also objected to the prosecuting attorney’s use of the phrase “crime spree.” The trial court denied the double jeopardy challenge, but cautioned the prosecuting attorney not to use the phrases “crime spree” or “dine-and-dash”. (Trial RP 173, l. 1 to RP 184, l. 1).

Mr. Mata again spoke to the court on October 14, 2011. He stated that the prosecuting attorney made a threat to Ms. Barrientes that federal charges might be brought against her depending upon testimony she may give at trial. Ms. Barrientes was never called as a witness. She had been subpoenaed. (Trial RP 308, l. 3 to RP 313, l. 15).

The State sought to admit certain jail phone calls allegedly made by Mr. Mata. Following a hearing outside of the presence of the jury the trial court denied the State's motion to use the calls. (Trial RP 640, ll. 2-3; ll. 16-22; RP 641, ll. 11-24; RP 718, ll. 6-15; RP 719, ll. 10-15; RP 733, l. 18 to RP 734, l. 25).

Mr. Mata made another motion to dismiss the UPF 1° on double jeopardy grounds. The trial court again denied it. (Trial RP 785, l. 10 to RP 786, l. 4; RP 796, l. 8 to RP 797, l. 8; RP 806, l. 16 to RP 808, l. 4; Exhibit 117; Exhibit 118, Exhibit 119).

Mr. Mata objected to his attorney's decision not to call Ms. Barrientes. (Trial RP 812, ll. 12-20).

After the State rested its case-in-chief Mr. Mata moved to dismiss the firearm enhancement because the State failed to prove that the gun was operable. The trial court denied the motion. (Trial RP 795, l. 8; RP 800, l. 9 to RP 801, l. 13; RP 806, ll. 6-10).

Defense counsel also moved to limit the firearm enhancement to a single enhancement under the rule of lenity. Only one firearm was in-



volved in the robberies. The trial court denied the motion. (Trial RP 823, ll. 1-15).

The State then moved to file an Amended Information involving Counts 1 and 2. The amendment was to add the following language: ... “or what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon.” The trial court allowed the amendment over Mr. Mata’s objection. It limited the language to “or what appeared to be a firearm.” (Trial RP 813, l. 13 to RP 819, l. 15; CP 93).

Mr. Mata elected to testify at trial. He denied robbing Mr. Sisneros. He denied the Fred Meyer robberies. He admitted what occurred in Pierce County. He denied being involved at the Denny’s incident. He admitted driving the van and that Ms. Barrientes was with him. He denied asking Ms. Barrientes to purchase a gun for him. (Trial RP 831, ll. 12-13; ll. 20-22; RP 832, ll. 1-5; ll. 12-16; RP 835, l. 6 to RP 836, l. 9; RP 837, ll. 11-12; ll. 21-23; RP 838, ll. 6-8).

After the defense rested its case the State renewed its motion to introduce the jail calls. The trial court allowed limited testimony concerning one jail call which was then played for the jury. The call pertained to the discussion of a firearm purchase. (Trial RP 878, l. 15; RP 895, ll. 15-25; RP 897, l. 13 to RP 898, l. 5; RP 959, ll. 8-15; RP 965, ll. 1-4).

Instruction 14 defines the offense of UPF 1st°. Instruction 17 is the to-convict instruction on that offense. (CP 507; CP 510; Trial RP 986, ll. 2-6; RP 986, l. 25 to RP 987, l. 17; Appendix “A”; Appendix “B”).

The jury found Mr. Mata guilty on Counts 1, 2 and 4. Special verdicts were returned that Mr. Mata was armed with a firearm on Counts 1 and 2. There was also a special verdict as to recent recidivism on Counts 1, 2 and 4. (CP 520; CP 521; CP 522; CP 523; CP 524; CP 525; CP 526; CP 527).

A sentencing hearing was conducted on December 5, 2011. The trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law supporting an exceptional sentence. Judgment and Sentence was also entered that date. (CP 760; CP 762).

The trial court imposed a sentence of one hundred and seventy one months (171) on Count 1. A sentence of 171 months was imposed on Count 2. The two counts were ordered to run consecutively. Additionally, each count carried a 60 month firearm enhancement for an additional one hundred and twenty (120) months running consecutive to the underlying sentence.

A one hundred and sixteen (116) month sentence was imposed on the UPF 1° to run concurrent with Counts 1 and 2. The sentence was ordered to run consecutive to Mr. Mata's Pierce County sentence. (Steinmetz RP 86, l. 4 to RP 95, l. 1).

A scrivener's error appears to exist in paragraph 4.A.2 of the Judgment and Sentence. The scrivener's error relates to the base sentence (342 months versus 458 months).

Mr. Mata filed his Notice of Appeal on December 13, 2011. (CP 771).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mr. Mata's conviction of UPF 1° violates double jeopardy principles. His acquittal of the same offense in Pierce County precludes his conviction in Yakima County.

The amendment of the Information, allowing the State to charge an alternative means of committing 1° robbery, after the State rested its case-in-chief, violates Mr. Mata's constitutional right to notice of the charges(s) against him.

The trial court erroneously ordered a consecutive sentence with Pierce County, miscalculated Mr. Mata's offender score on the second count of 1° robbery, and misapplied the "free crimes" doctrine.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. DOUBLE JEOPARDY**

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, in part:

No person shall be...subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb....

Const. art. I, § 9 states: “No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.”

The two constitutional provisions are identical as far as their thought, substance and purpose. *See: State v. Walters*, 146 Wn. App. 138, 188 P. 3d 540 (2008).

Mr. Mata’s conviction for UPF 1° violates both constitutional provisions. He was acquitted of that offense in Pierce County. The charge in Pierce County involved the same firearm allegedly possessed on the same date.

The double jeopardy clause protects individuals from three distinct governmental abuses: **a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal**, a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction, and multiply punishments for the same offense.

*State v. Wright*, 165 Wn. 2d 763, 791, 203 P. 3d 1027 (2009). (Emphasis supplied.)

The trial court denied Mr. Mata’s motion to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds. The trial court’s reasoning was that since the offense occurred at a different time and in a different location double jeopardy did not apply. The trial court applied a same criminal conduct analysis instead of a double jeopardy analysis.

That a person may not be retried for the same offense following an acquittal is “the most fundamental rule in the history of dou-

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