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

the specific facts, the separation of time, place and victim, clearly there 

was no double jeopardy.   Mata could easily have argued that State v. 

May, 100 Wn. App. 477, 997 P.2d 956 (2000) was applicable in the Pierce 

County case, not a defense he would be able to avail himself of in this 

case: 

 A person is not guilty of unlawful possession of a 

firearm if the possession is unwitting. Possession 

of a firearm is unwitting if a person did not know 

that the firearm was in his possession. 

    The burden is on the defendant to prove by a  

preponderance of the evidence that the firearm was 

possessed unwittingly.   Preponderance of the 

evidence means that you must be persuaded, 

considering all of the evidence in the case, that it is 

more probably true than not true. 

 

In re Fletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 47, 776 P.2d 114 (1989):  

 

The double jeopardy clause does not prohibit the 

imposition of separate punishments for different offenses. 
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State v. Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d 413, 423, 662 P.2d 853 

(1983) held that: 

In order to be the "same offense" for purposes of double 

jeopardy the offenses must be the same in law and in fact. 

If there is an element in each offense which is not 

included in the other, and proof of one offense would not 

necessarily also prove the other, the offenses are not 

constitutionally the same and the double jeopardy clause 

does not prevent convictions for both 

offenses. 

 The test set forth in Vladovic involves two components. 

First, the offenses must be factually the same. If "proof of 

one offense would not necessarily also prove the other", 

double jeopardy would not protect against multiple 

punishments. Vladovic, at 423. In State v. Claborn, 95 

Wn.2d 629, 628 P.2d 467 (1981) the defendant was 

charged with first degree assault, second degree burglary, 

and first degree theft. The burglary and theft charges also 

included special allegations that the defendant was armed 

with a deadly weapon. The charges arose out of an 

incident in which the defendant and two accomplices 

broke into a tool shop and stole tools and a truck. A jury 

found the defendant guilty on all three counts and also 

found that he had been armed with a deadly weapon on 

the burglary and theft counts. Claborn, at 631. 

 

Here there are completely separate facts which had to be proven 

for a conviction to result for the crime of UPF.  See, State v. Reed, 84 Wn. 

App. 379, 928 P.2d 469 (1997), proof of predicate offense a necessary 

element, State v. Russell, 84 Wn. App. 1, 925 P.2d 633 (1996) Old statute 

only allowed one conviction even though more than weapons possessed.   

New codification allows for multiple convictions if multiple guns.   

The following cases set forth what the State must prove and how 

that proof may come about in a possession case.  
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State v. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. 777, 934 P.2d 1214 (1997).  

Possession may be actual or constructive, and 

constructive possession can be established by showing the 

defendant had dominion and control over the firearm or 

over the premises where the firearm was found. See State v. 

Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 798, 872 P.2d 502 (1994); State v. 

Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 29-30, 459 P.2d 400 (1969). The 

ability to reduce an object to actual possession is an aspect 

of dominion and control. State v. Hagen, 55 Wn. App. 494, 

499, 781 P.2d 892 (1989). Given the unchallenged finding 

the gun was in plain sight at Mr. Echeverria's feet and the 

reasonable inference that he therefore knew it was there, a 

rational trier of fact could find Mr. Echeverria possessed or 

controlled the gun that was within his reach. 

 

State v. Krajeski, 104 Wn. App. 377, 16 P.3d 69 (2001); 

 

After Krajeski filed his appeal, our Supreme Court held 

that knowledge is an essential element of unlawful 

possession of a firearm. State v. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d 357, 

366-67, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000). Krajeski retained new counsel 

and we granted his motion to file an amended brief raising 

for the first time the issue of knowledge based on 

Anderson. 

  "All essential elements of a crime, statutory or 

otherwise, must be included in a charging document in 

order to afford notice to an accused of the nature and cause 

of the accusation against him." State v. Kjorsvik, 117 

Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). "Knowing" possession 

of a firearm is an essential element of the crime of unlawful 

possession of a firearm. Anderson, 141 Wn.2d at 359. 

 

The gun is only one element of that crime.   The State had to, and 

did, prove that in Yakima County that Mata was in possession of the 

weapon.   This is also readily seen from testimony by the various 

witnesses who testified that was the person who had in his possession or 
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control a gun and that he used it in the commission of the crimes for which 

he was charged.    

The testimony of Mr. Zachary Sisneros, a military veteran and gun 

owner who was robbed by Mr. Mata identified the gun and Mr. Mata. (RP 

274-284)   The State then properly submitted the agreement regarding the 

defendant’s previous criminal history and the jury could then find him 

guilty as charge with regard to the UPF.   (CP 44, RP 771-2) 

As was recently stated by this court in State v. Gatlin, 241 P.3d 

443, 447 (2010): 

At issue in any double jeopardy analysis is whether the 

legislature intended to impose multiple punishments for 

the same event. In the Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 

Wash.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). Courts may 

discern the legislature's purpose by applying the tests 

set forth in Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 

304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932) ("same elements 

test"). Under Blockburger, " [t]he applicable rule is 

that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a 

violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to 

be applied to determine whether there are two offenses 

or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of 

a fact which the other does not." 284 U.S. at 304, 52 

S.Ct. 180. Under the Washington rule, double jeopardy 

attaches only if the offenses are identical in both law 

and fact, which is demonstrated when "‘the evidence 

required to support a conviction upon one of them 

would have been sufficient to warrant a conviction 

upon the other.’ "State v. Reiff, 14 Wash. 664, 667, 45 

P. 318 (1896) (quoting Morey v. Commonwealth, 108 

Mass. 433, 434 (1871)). The "same elements" test and 

the " same evidence" test are largely indistinguishable. 

Orange, 152 Wash.2d at 816, 100 P.3d 291. 
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Without a doubt these two very distinct criminal acts in two 

different counties, with two separate crime scenes demonstrate that the 

State had to charge and prove two completely distinct acts.   

There is the commonality of the 1) gun and 2)the defendant but 

there is no proof or information within the record before this court that 

there was anything other than those two elements were the same. Even if 

those two had been the same the fact still remains that the charged crime 

in Pierce County was factually such that the jury could easily, and did, 

find that the elements were not met.  The distinguishing facts being that at 

the time of his arrest in Pierce county Mata was not near the gun and there 

had been another person in the van, the van was stolen and no person, in 

the record before this court, could state that Mata had the gun in his 

physical possession during the time he was in that van.   

State v. Turner, 103 Wn. App. 515, 521, 13 P.3d 234 (2000);  

 

As Turner asserts, close proximity alone is not 

enough to establish constructive possession; other 

facts must enable the trier of fact to infer dominion 

and control. State v. Spruell, 57 Wn. App. 383, 388-

89, 788 P.2d 21 (1990). But the ability to reduce an 

object to actual possession is an aspect of dominion 

and control. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. at 783. No 

single factor, however, is dispositive in determining 

dominion and control. State v. Collins, 76 Wn. App. 

496, 501, 886 P.2d 243, review denied, 126 Wn.2d 

1016 (1995). The totality of the circumstances must 

be considered. Collins, 76 Wn. App. at 501. 
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  This case is similar to Echeverria, where the court 

found that a rational trier of fact could reasonably 

infer that the defendant possessed or controlled a 

gun that was within his reach. The gun was in plain 

sight, sticking out from underneath the defendant's 

driver's seat. Echeverria, 85 Wn. App. 777 at 783. 

 

The initial ruling by the court was on point: 

 

THE COURT: They're completely separate issues. 

... 

THE COURT: Well, I didn't know, didn't know 

anything about it. I wondered for no particular reason, 

just to what's going on. 

They are completely separate issues. I'm not aware of 

any double jeopardy issue. The fact that you have facts 

that justify different crimes in different jurisdictions is 

not double jeopardy.  (RP 180) 

 

The subsequent more in depth ruling supports this too. (RP 806-

811)   The fact is that this was the same gun but the proof of the crime 

does not end there.  The acts of the defendant in two locations at two times 

as well as the factual “possession” portion of the proof were specific to 

those times and locations.  

RESPONSE TO ISSUE TWO – AMENDED INFORMATION. 

Appellant claims that he was unfairly prejudiced by the Court 

allowing the State to amend the information after the close of the State’s 

case.   

The original information included the language that was almost 

identical to that later allowed in the “amended” information.  In fact the 
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original information included the phrase “you displayed what appeared to 

be a firearm or other deadly weapon.”  That information was filed on July 

31, 2009 and included only one count of Robbery 1 and one count of First 

degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. (CP 1)   The defendant was 

placed on notice at that time.  

The first amendment added two additional counts of Robbery in 

the First degree, this included the terminology “you were armed with a 

firearm and /or you displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other 

deadly weapon.”  (CP 26-7)(Emphasis mine.) 

The second amended information changed count three from 

Robbery First degree to an Attempt.   (CP 33)  All three counts change the 

language back to “you displayed what appeared to be a firearm.”  The 

language “you were armed with a firearm and/or” was not in this 

amendment.  

The final amendment allowed on October 20, 2011 reverted to 

language that was similar to the original information, “you were armed 

with a firearm and/or you displayed what appeared to be a firearm.” 

Throughout this entire trial the defendant knew that the State had 

to prove that he was armed or appeared to be armed at the time he 

committed these crimes with a firearm or deadly weapon.  The evidence 

throughout this case was that Mata used a firearm.   There is nothing 
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“new” that was added in any of the amended informations and specifically 

not in the final amended information.  The only difference would be 

whether or not the State had to have someone testify that they had test 

fired the weapon.    

The fact is the State did not have to prove that this gun was 

operable.   Mata has not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence 

presented in this case.  He did not at trail and does not in this appeal 

indicate that because of this amendment he was not able to present a 

defense.  "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence 

and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." State v. 

Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). Circumstantial 

evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 

Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Credibility determinations are 

reserved to the trier of fact. State v. Mines, 163 Wn.2d 387, 179 P.3d 835 

(2008).    In sum, evidence is sufficient if, after viewing it in the light most 

favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

crime's essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 

at 201.  It is difficult to perceive how Mata can raise the issue that this 

amendment was error when he has not challenged the fact that the State 

proved these crimes beyond a reasonable doubt.   
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  RCW 9.41.010(1) defines a "firearm" as "a weapon or device 

from which a projectile or projectiles may be fired by an explosive such as 

gunpowder."  This language has been interpreted to require a gun to be 

operable at some point in order to qualify as a firearm, but not necessarily 

during commission of the crime. See, e.g., State v. Padilla, 95 Wn.App. 

531, 535, 978 P.2d 1113 (1999) (disassembled pistol qualified as a firearm 

because it "may be fired" if reassembled); State v. Anderson, 94 Wn.App. 

151, 159, 971 P.2d 585 (1999) (noting that unloaded guns are considered 

firearms even though they are not immediately operable), rev'd on other 

grounds, 141 Wn.2d 357, 5 P.3d 1247 (2000); State v. Faust, 93 Wn.App. 

373, 376, 967 P.2d 1284 (1998) (malfunctioning gun was still a firearm).    

This final amendment uses the exact terminology that was used 

when this matter was originally filed.  There is nothing that was added and 

the appellant knew from the State’s witness list that there was no on who 

was to be called to state that the gun had been test-fired.    

It would appear from reading the statements by defense counsel 

that the objection was not that with regard to the use phrase “or other 

deadly weapon.”  The defense attorney states “I don't think that the 

amendment should be permitted. The only evidence is that there was a 

firearm. That's the only evidence we have.   Nobody said that they thought 

it might be a firearm. They all said it was the gun.”  (RP 815)  That is 
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exactly what the final amendment says.  There was no inclusion of the 

phrase “or other deadly weapon.”  It would appear from reading the record 

in totality that the defendant/appellant got what he wanted when he 

objected to the amendment.  There is nothing in this record to support an 

argument that Mata objected to the totality of the amendment.  His only 

objection appears to be that the State should not be allowed to include the 

“or other deadly weapon” wording.   He argued that this was never argued 

or proven.  

"A trial court's decision to allow amendment is reviewed for abuse 

of discretion." State v. Guttierrez, 92 Wn. App. 343, 346, 961 P.2d 974 

(1998) (citing State v. Haner, 95 Wn.2d 858, 864, 631 P.2d 381 (1981)). 

CrR 2.1(d) provides for amendment of an information 'at any time 

before verdict or finding if substantial rights of the defendant are not 

prejudiced.'   In circumstances where an amendment to the information is 

proper, the burden is upon the defendant to show that he will be prejudiced 

by the amendment. State v. Gosser, 33 Wn. App. 428, 434-35, 656 P.2d 

514 (1982).  Here, the amendment does not add a new charge; it merely 

adds language that was apparently inadvertently omitted after the original 

Information was charged.   The amendment is based on the original 

charges and facts available and known to Mr. Mata.  Accordingly, Mata 
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has failed to show he was prejudiced by the amendment or that the court 

abused its discretion when it allowed the correction of this error.  

Because appellant was successful in convincing the court that the 

“or other deadly weapon” language was should not be allowed in the 

amendment and he did not object to the final version that reinserted the 

phrase “you were armed with a firearm and” it would be the State’s 

position that there can be no claim of error now; Appellant got what he 

wanted in the trial court.  The “error” was not preserved because it was not 

in fact raised in the trial court.    

State v. Nguyen, 165 Wn.2d 428, 433, 197 P.3d 673 (2008): 

 

In general, an error raised for the first time on appeal 

will not be reviewed. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wash.2d 

918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). An exception exists for 

a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 

2.5(a)(3). This is a "`narrow'" exception. Kirkman, 159 

Wash.2d at 934, 155 P.3d 125 (quoting State v. Scott,

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